IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

ELIZABETH MARTIN	APPELLANT
VS.	No. 2009-CA-01365
ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL	APPELLEE
APPELLANT'S BRIEF	

MICAH DUTRO
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
CAPITAL TOWERS SUITE 1208
125 SOUTH CONGRESS ST
JACKSON, MS 39201
PHONE # 601-983-2074

Statement of the Case

This appeal concerns a negligence action by Ms. Elizabeth Martin against St. Dominic's Hospital in which the trial judge granted the defendant's renewed Motion for Directed Verdict pursuant to M.R.C.P. 50(a). The defense's Motion was sustained on the premise that the Plaintiff had not set forth enough evidence to establish the proximate cause of Ms. Martin's injury. A dispute of fact as to the proximate cause of the Ms. Martin's knee injury is at issue and, therefore, the directed verdict should be overturned in order for a jury to settle this factual dispute.

Facts

On September 27, 2005 Ms. Martin attended a group therapy session at St.

Dominic's Hospital. *Martin v. St. Dominic Hosp.* Tr. Transcr. vol. 1, 65:19-65:26 (May 5, 2009).

The group session that day took place in the small day room and later the group was transferred to the large day room. *Id.* at vol. 2, 197:1-197:8. These sessions include scheduled breaks in order for patients to walk around, get food, or go outside. *Id.* at vol. 1, 66:2-66:6. That day around five o'clock the group session stopped for a break and Ms. Martin was the first one to exit the room and enter the hallway. *Id.* at vol. 1, 65:23-66:14. At trial Ms. Martin stated that as soon as she exited the room she immediately stepped onto a freshly waxed floor causing her to

slip and fall landing directly on both knees. *Id.* at vol. 1, 66:15-66:16. The fall happened so quickly that she did not have time to grab hold of anything or put her hands down to brace herself. *Id.* at vol. 1, 66:11-66:14. Immediately after her fall other patients and nurses came to her aid. *Id.* at vol. 1, 69:5-69:26. St. Dominic's released Ms. Martin from their care the following day. *Id.* at vol. 1, 70:24-70:28. Soon after the fall she sought additional treatment from her primary physician due to continued pain and swelling in both knees. *Id.* at vol. 1, 71:3-71:25.

Ms. Martin's primary care physician did an MRI and continued to treat Ms. Martin but eventually referred Ms. Martin to a specialist in order to better treat her injury. *Id.* at vol. 1, 72:9-72:18. Dr. Gandy, an orthopedic surgeon, received the referral and treated Ms. Martin starting in late 2005. Depo. Dr. David Gandy 5:9-5:16 (May 5, 2005). Dr. Gandy is a member of the medical staff at St. Dominic's Hospital. *Id.* at 4:8-4:12. Dr. Gandy performed arthroscopic surgery on Ms. Martin which revealed both a medial and lateral tear of the meniscus in her right knee. *Id.* at 18:25-19:7. After surgery Ms. Martin entered a rehabilitation program at Sports Medicine South for physical therapy on her right knee. *Martin v. St. Dominic Hosp.* Tr. Transcr. vol. 1, 75:5-75:14. Ms. Martin seeks reimbursement for her medical expenses associated with treatment by her primary physician, treatment by Dr. Gandy and the cost of arthroscopic surgery, and continued treatment through rehabilitation with Sports Medicine South. *Id.* at vol. 1, 73:3-78:2.

The trial for this negligence action commenced on May 4, 2009 in which a last minute video deposition of Dr. David Gandy was taken on the morning of May 5, 2009. *Id.* at vol. 1, 81:3-81:7. This deposition was admitted into evidence as Dr. Gandy's expert testimony as he was unable to appear in person. *Id.* at vol. 1, 108:3-109:4. Dr. Gandy's videotaped deposition was played for the jury in which he was tendered as a medical expert witness and provided his

detailed recollection of Ms. Martin's medical condition, his personal treatment of her injury, and his medical option of the causation of the injury. *Id.* at vol. 1, 124:27-124:29.

Dr. Gandy started treatment of Ms. Martin by reviewing the MRI taken by her primary physician, and then he talked with Ms. Martin about her treatment options. Depo. Dr. David Gandy 14:13-14:19. Based on these options provided by Dr. Gandy, Ms. Martin decided to go ahead with arthroscopic surgery in order to diagnose and treat her knee pain. *Id.* at14:20-14:22. Dr. Gandy stated that the MRI, which he relied on in assessing her condition before surgery, revealed that Ms. Martin suffered from "a mild patella alta with evidence of trabecular injury in the patella suggesting osseous contusion." *Id.* at 7:25-8:3. A trabecular injury suggesting osseous contusion is "basically a bruise to the bone, and that normally would occur from some type of direct blow to the knee." *Id.* at 8:8-8:12. Dr. Gandy also found evidence of a mild ACL sprain in the MRI, which he summarized as a "football type injury" and edema or swelling was found within the bone marrow which he stated "can be attributed to the recent fall or to arthritis." *Id.* at 8:23-8:25.

Dr. Gandy also reviewed x-rays taken at the same time the MRI was taken, which revealed Ms. Martin had "moderate osteoarthritis in the right knee." *Id.* at 9:2-9:4. Dr. Gandy also did his own follow-up x-rays which showed that Ms. Martin had internal derangement of both knees with primary arthritis. *Id.* at 11:18-11:23. Dr. Gandy elaborated that "an internal derangement generally means – it's sort of a catch-all term, it means there's something wrong inside the knee and we're not sure all that's in there." Id. 11:23-12:1. These medical conclusions form the basis for Ms. Martin's need for arthroscopic surgery, which Dr. Gandy stated "serves as a diagnostic tool" *Id.* 15:19-15:25. In elaborating on the purpose of the surgery

Dr. Gandy also conceded that arthroscopic surgery in treating arthritis "may help it a little bit, but it's really not a treatment for it." *Id.* at 15:2-15:4.

This concluded the Plaintiff's evidence, which consequently led to the defense's Motion for Directed Verdict based on the premise that medical causation had not been proven. Tr. Transcr. at vol. 1, 125:19-125:28. This Motion was taken under advisement, and the defense proceeded by presenting their evidence. *Id.* at vol. 1, 136:19-136:24.

A witness on behalf of the defense testified that while working in her capacity as a registered nurse at St. Dominic's Hospital she performed an admissions assessment of Ms. Martin in which she wrote on her chart that Ms. Martin was diagnosed with osteoarthritis in 2004. *Id.* at vol. 1, 140:19-140:24. She also charted that Ms. Martin said she had problems with her knees and on occasion her left knee would give out. *Id.* at vol. 1, 140:28-141:4. Ms. Mangum though did not witness Ms. Martin's slip and fall. *Id.* at vol. 1, 146:13-146:27. Several other witnesses also testified on behalf of the defense before their evidence concluded.

It was at this juncture that Mr. Werne, counsel for the defense, renewed the Motion for Directed Verdict. *Id.* at vol. 2, 226:20-226:24. This Motion was then granted by the court due to the Plaintiff's failure to provide sufficient expert medical testimony in order to establish the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury. *Id.* at vol. 2, 240:4-240:25.

Statement of the Issues

This case presents one issue to be decided by the Court.

- (1) Whether or not the trial judge erred in granting a Motion for Direct Verdict in favor of the Appellee, St. Dominic's Hospital. Appellant contends in support of this position that:
 - (A) The Appellant provided sufficient evidence at trial to establish the proximate cause of her knee injury. Any dispute of this fact is a question for the jury.

(B) The trial judge misapplied several cases in support of his grant of a directed verdict against Appellant.

Standard of Review

The standard of review for a motion for directed is *de novo*. *Houston v. York*, 755 So. 2d 495, 499 (Miss. App. 1999). The well established standard for deciding whether to grant a motion for a directed verdict is that, "the court should look solely to the testimony on behalf of the opposing party; if such testimony, along with all reasonable inferences, could support a verdict for that party, the case should not be taken from the jury." *Entrican v. Ming*, 962 So. 2d. 28, 32 (Miss. 2007) (citing *White v. Thomason*, 310 So. 2d 914 (Miss. 1975)). Courts have elaborated on this standard of review by holding that "if the favorable inferences have been reasonably drawn in favor of the non-moving party so as to create a question of fact from which reasonable minds could differ, then the motion for directed verdict should not be granted and the matter should be given to the jury." *Houston*, 755 So. 2d at 499. (citing *Sperry-New Holland*, a *Div. of Sperry Corp. v. Prestage*, 617 So. 2d 248, 252 (Miss. 1993)). In other words "in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom present a question for the jury, the motion should not be granted." *Entrican*, 962 So. 2d at 31.

Argument

A. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Appellee's Motion for Directed Verdict. The Proximate Cause Of Appellant's Injury Is a Question Of Fact To Be Determined By A Jury.

The trial judge erred in holding that the Appellant failed to produce sufficient evidence to establish the proximate cause of her injury. In order "for a particular damage to be recoverable in a negligence action, the plaintiff must show that the damage was proximately caused by the negligence." *Spann v. Shuqualak Lumber Co., Inc.*, 990 So. 2d 186, 190 (Miss. 2008) (see also

Patterson v. Liberty Assoc., 910 So. 2d 1014, 1019 (Miss. 2004)). To prove causation the plaintiff in a civil case must show cause in fact and proximate cause. Patterson, 910 So. 2d at 1019. The Supreme Court of Mississippi has defined proximate cause as a "cause which in naturally and continuous sequence unbroken by any efficient intervening cause produces the injury and without which the result would not have occurred." Entrican, 962 So. 2d at 32 (citing Patterson, 910 So. 2d at 1019)). This Court has held that "when reasonable minds might differ on the matter, questions of proximate cause and of negligence and of contributory negligence are generally for determination of the jury." Hankins Lumber Co. v. Moore, 774 So. 2d 459, 464 (Miss. App. 2000).

In the instant case the question of fact is whether or not the Appellant's knee injury was caused by her preexisting arthritis, general wear and tear, or from her slip and fall at St.

Dominic's Hospital. Dr. Gandy, the Appellant's treating physician, testified as to the causes of Ms. Martin's knee injury and went into detail as to the results of an MRI taken shortly after her fall. *Martin v. St. Dominic Hosp.* Tr. Transcr. vol. 1, 108:3-109:4; Depo. Dr. David Gandy, 7:25-8:25. (May 5, 2009). When asked about the possible causes of a meniscus tear Dr. Gandy stated "wear and tear or from an acute injury." Depo. Dr. David Gandy, at 27:12-27:20. Dr. Gandy also elaborated that the MRI showed a trabecular injury or bone contusion "being basically a bruise to the bone, and normally this would occur from some type of direct blow to the knee." *Id.* at 7:25-8:12. He stated that her mild ACL sprain can be attributed to "football type injuries," and that the edema or swelling in the bone marrow of her knee is "due to the recent fall or arthritis." *Id.* at 8:13-8:25.

. In addressing Ms. Martin's need for surgery, Dr. Gandy acknowledged that the surgery was conducted to "deal with two issues, the arthritis and the meniscus tear." Id. at 26:3-26:9. Dr.

Gandy also stated that "we knew she had arthritis, but arthroscopy really doesn't help arthritis, but it was more for the medical symptoms that she was having." *Id.* at 14:23-15:8. He also stated that he conducted the arthroscopic surgery as a "diagnostic tool" and that this type of surgery is "not normally a treatment for arthritis" because "arthritis pain is usually not benefited much by arthroscopy." *Id.* at 14:23-15:8.

Through the Appellant's firsthand account of her slip and fall at St. Dominic's Hospital and Dr. Gandy's testimony the plaintiff has provided sufficient evidence that a reasonable jury could conclude that because of the direct blow to her knee from slipping on a wet waxed floor, she suffered an injury to her knee requiring arthroscopic surgery and subsequent rehabilitation. The fact that Ms. Martin fell and landed directly on her knees is not in dispute. This evidence is to be viewed in a light most favorable to the Appellant and if in such light a reasonable juror could conclude that the fall caused her injury then the trial court's directed verdict should be reversed. *Entrican*, 962 So. 2d at 31; *Houston*, 755 So. 2d at 499.

B. The Trial Court Erred In Its Application of Kidd, Catchings, and Spann.

The trial judge erroneously relied on two cases in his Order granting the Appellee's Motion for Directed Verdict, *Kidd v. McRae's Stores Partn.*, 951 So. 2d 622 (Miss. App. 2007) and *Catchings v. State*, 684 So. 2d 591 (Miss. 1996). Or. Granting Defs.' Mot. Directed Verdict, vol. 2, 164-6 (May 14, 2009).

In its holding the trial court stated that "when an expert's opinion is not based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty, or the opinion is articulated in a way that does not make the opinion probable, the jury cannot use that information to make a decision." *Id.* at vol. 2, 165 (citing *Kidd*, 951 So. 2d at 626). In *Kidd*, the issue was whether the deposition testimony of a medical doctor could be limited with regard to future medical expenses. *Id* at 626. This Court

allowed the doctor's testimony as to the Appellant's possible need for surgery on her arm but struck the portion of the deposition in which the doctor estimated future medical costs. *Id*.

In the instant case Judge Yerger allowed the jury to view a video of Dr. Gandy's deposition in its entirety. Tr. Transcr. vol. 1, 124:28-124:29. In his deposition Dr. Gandy was not asked nor did he make any predictions about the Appellant's future medical needs. Depo. Dr. David Gandy (May 5, 2009). In *Kidd* the issue concerned the *admissibility* of the witness's statements. *Kidd*, 951 So. 2d at 626. In the instant case the question was not one of admissibility, but whether or not the testimony was sufficient to establish proximate cause. Tr. Transcr. vol. 2, 240:4-240:14. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "credibility determination, the weighing of the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge, whether he is ruling on a motion for summary judgment *or for a directed verdict.*" *Benjamin v. Hopper Electronic Supply Co., Inc.*, 568 So. 2d 1182, 1187 (Miss. 1990) (emphasis added) (citing *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 255, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2513 (1986); see also *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986). As such the trial court erroneously applied the *Kidd* case and the directed verdict should be overturned.

The trial court also relies heavily on *Catchings v. State*, a criminal case. 684 So. 2d 591 (Miss. 1996). In *Catchings* the question was whether a neurologist, who treated the patient from the time of his admission into the emergency room until his subsequent death three weeks later, could testify as to his medical opinion of the decedent's cause of death. *Id.* The Mississippi Supreme Court allowed the testimony and reasoned "that the testimony given, although without the use of the words 'to a reasonable medical certainty' evidences the certainty requisite for admission." *Id.* at 598.

In his Order granting the Appellee's Motion for a Directed Verdict the trial judge quoted Catchings as stating that "the intent of the law is that if a physician cannot form an opinion with sufficient certainty so as to make a medical judgment, neither can a jury use that information to reach a decision." Id. at 597 (citing McMahon v. Young, 276 A. 2d 534, 535 (1971)) Or. Granting Defs.' Mot. Directed Verdict vol. 2, 165. Furthermore, language referenced by the trial court in its Order granting the Appellee's Motion for Directed Verdict concerning the use of phrases such as "probability," "possibility," or even "strong possibility" is attributed to the Kidd and Catchings cases. Id. (citing Kidd, 951 So. 2d at 626) (citing Catchings, 684 So. 2d 597)). However, a careful examination of the Supreme Court of Mississippi's opinion in Catchings shows that the Court is quoting language from a federal case in the Third Circuit Court of Appeals and that it did so because at the time of the Catchings decision the Court had not addressed the specific question of the certainty required of medical and expert opinions. Catchings, 684 So. 2d at 597.

In fact, the Supreme Court of Mississippi stated that the trial court in *Catchings* did not err when it admitted the neurologist's testimony due to the fact that the neurologist had been the decedent's treating physician and had performed various medical procedures related to the decedent's condition. *Id.* at 598. The *Catchings* court held that the phrase "to a reasonable medical certainty" was not required. *Id.* Eleven years later in *Smith v. City of Gulfport* this Court upheld the ruling in *Catchings* that no magic words are required to establish certainty on behalf of a medical or scientific expert. 949 So. 2d 848, 849-50 (Miss. App. 2007).

The trial court's Order also stated that "a mere 'guess' by a treating physician or expert is insufficient to establish substantial, credible evidence to support damages." *City of Jackson v. Spann*, 4 So. 3d 1029,1039 (Miss. 2009). While this assertion is agreeable, it is not analogous

to the present case. In *Spann*, a physician gave an estimate as to what the cost of fixing a meniscus tear would be in which he stated "Well, I would guess around \$20,000. I don't know for sure." *Id.* That particular expert "had not practiced surgery for eight or nine years" and therefore, the Mississippi Supreme Court found his testimony did not rise to the level of medical certainty needed in order to establish the amount of damages or future disability. *Id.* In the instant case, the cost of a medical procedure is not in dispute. The trial judge granted the Appellee's Motion for Directed Verdict because he found that the Appellant had not provided sufficient evidence to establish proximate causation. Tr. Transcr. vol. 2, 240:4-240:13.

Conclusion

The trial court erred in its granting of the Appellee's Motion for Directed Verdict. The directed verdict should be reversed and remanded in order for a jury to weigh both the testimony of the Appellant and Dr. Gandy to reach conclusion as to the proximate cause of Appellant's knee injury. Dr. Gandy's medical testimony sufficiently stated his medical conclusion as to the cause of the Appellant's knee injury and should be weighed by a jury.

Filed this the 9 day of June, 2010.