IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ELIZABETH MARTIN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-01365

ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

John E. Wade, Jr., MSB Sharon F. Bridges, MSB No. Jonathan R. Werne, MSB No. BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC 190 East Capitol Street, Suite 100 Post Office Drawer 119 Jackson, Mississippi 39205

Telephone:

601-948-3101

Facsimile:

601-960-6902

Counsel for St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ELIZABETH MARTIN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the Hinds County Circuit Court Properly Granted St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital's Motion for a Directed Verdict.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff Elizabeth Martin ("Martin") failed to establish that St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital ("St. Dominic") proximately caused her alleged knee injuries when she fell in one of the hospital's corridors. At trial, Martin presented the deposition testimony of one of her treating physicians, Dr. David Gandy. In his deposition, Dr. Gandy described his medical findings following Martin's x-rays and subsequent arthroscopic surgery. Dr. Gandy testified that Martin had internal derangement of both knees with primary arthritis and a meniscus tear on both the medial and lateral meniscus of the left knee (Deposition of Dr. Gandy, 11:18-25, 19:3-7, 20:24-25, 21:1-2). However, Dr. Gandy was never asked by Martin's counsel, nor did he ever testify, as to whether her fall at St. Dominic proximately caused her knee-related medical conditions. As a result of Martin's failure to establish medical causation of her alleged injuries, Martin failed to make a *prima facie* case for negligence, and St. Dominic's motion for a directed verdict was properly granted.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A motion for a directed verdict challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence." Barfield v. State, 22 So. 3d 1175, 1185 (Miss. 2009). The standard of review for directed verdicts is de novo. Owens v. Miss. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co., 910 So. 2d 1065, 1069 (Miss. 2005) (citing Skrmetta v. Bayview Yacht Club, Inc., 806 So. 2d 1120, 1124 (Miss. 2002); Morgan v. Greenwaldt, 786 So. 2d 1037, 1041 (Miss. 2001)). "When deciding whether the granting of a motion for a directed verdict was proper by the lower court, this Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and gives that party the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence presented at trial." Gray v. BellSouth Telecomm., Inc., 11 So. 3d 1269, 1271 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (citing Munford, Inc. v. Fleming, 597 So. 2d 1282, 1284 (Miss. 1992)).

The Court, in its review of the circuit court's grant of a motion for directed verdict, considers "whether the evidence, as applied to the elements of a party's case, is either so indisputable, or so deficient, that the necessity of a trier of fact has been obviated." Hartel v. Pruett, 998 So. 2d 979, 990 (Miss. 2008) (citing Spotlite Skating Rink, Inc. v. Barnes, 988 So. 2d 364, 368 (Miss. 2008) (quoting White v. Stewman, 932 So. 2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006)). If the Court determines that the non-moving party's evidence, and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, create a question for the jury, a motion for directed verdict should not be granted. Entrican v. Ming, 962 So. 2d 28, 31 (Miss. 2007) (citing Pace v. Fin. Sec. Life, 608 So. 2d 1135, 1138 (Miss. 1992)). Nonetheless, "[a] trial court should submit an issue to the jury only if the evidence creates a question of fact concerning which reasonable jurors could disagree." Id. (quoting Vines v. Windham, 606 So. 2d 128, 131 (Miss. 1992)).

3

II. MARTIN FAILED TO PROVE ST. DOMINIC'S ALLEGED NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CAUSED HER KNEE INJURIES; ACCORDINGLY, ST. DOMINIC IS ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT.

A. Martin Failed to Offer Expert Testimony on Medical Causation of Her Alleged Injuries.

Appellant Elizabeth Martin argues that "the trial court erred in holding that Martin failed to produce sufficient evidence to establish the proximate cause of her injury" and that the proximate cause of Martin's injury is a question of fact to be determined by the jury. (Appellant Br. at 9).

In order to recover damages in a negligence action, a plaintiff is required to establish that the damage was proximately caused by the negligent act of the defendant. City of Jackson v. Spann, 4 So. 3d 1029, 1033 (Miss. 2009) (citing Glover v. Jackson State Univ., 968 So. 2d 1267, 1277 (Miss. 2007)). Proximate cause necessitates a finding that the alleged negligence was both the cause in fact and the legal cause of the damage. Id. (citing Glover, 968 So. 2d at 1277) (internal citations omitted)). The plaintiff establishes "cause in fact" by showing that, but for the defendant's negligence, the injury would not have occurred. Id. (citing Glover, 968 So. 2d at 1277). After cause in fact is established, legal cause will also be established, provided that the damage is within the type of damage the negligent defendant should have foreseen to result from his negligence. Id. (citing Glover, 968 So. 2d at 1277) (internal citations omitted).

Martin alleged that on September 27, 2005, she slipped and fell on one of the hospital's waxed floors, causing her to suffer knee injuries. Prior to her fall at St. Dominic, Martin suffered from, and was treated being treated for, osteoarthritis. (Trial Tr. 71:28-29, 72:1-2, 112:21-28). Martin's previous medical records indicated problems with her left knee "giving out." (Trial Tr. 113:24-29; 114:1). In fact, when her knee began to swell following her discharge from St. Dominic, she assumed it was due to her arthritis. (Trial Tr. 71:18-19, 28-29, 72:1-2). Martin testified that Dr. Gandy told her that she had torn ligaments in her left knee and needed

arthroscopic surgery. (Trial Tr. 72:19-23). After a review of her medical records, she also acknowledged Dr. Gandy's impression of her injuries in November 2005 to be "internal derangement [of] both knees with probably arthritic primarily." (Trial Tr. 117:21-29, 118:1-8). Dr. Gandy's post-operative diagnosis was "No. 1 medial and lateral meniscus tear, left knee. No. 2, arthritis, left knee." (Trial Tr. 119:25-29, 120:1-12).

Martin offered no expert testimony to prove causation of these knee injuries which she attributed to her fall at St. Dominic and concluded her case-in-chief after calling Dr. Gandy to testify as to her medical treatment at his clinic. The Court of Appeals has previously recognized the importance of expert testimony in establishing medical causation. In *Hosey v. Mediamolle*, the plaintiff, alleging injuries due to exposure to toxic mold, appealed the trial court's grant of summary judgment to the real estate defendants. 963 So. 2d 1267, 1268 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In spite of the plaintiff's arguments for more time to designate an expert witness, the Court of Appeals determined that the plaintiff allowed thirty-eight months to pass without identifying an expert and failed to present any affidavits or facts to justify her failure to designate an expert. *Id.* at 1269-1270. "Without an expert, [the plaintiff] was unable to prove the elements of the case." Accordingly, the Court of Appeals recognized this error as fatal to the plaintiff's claim and found the trial court's dismissal by summary judgment proper. *Id.* at 1270.

Similarly, in *Moffett v. Jones County*, a recent suit in the Southern District of Mississippi, the court determined that summary judgment should be granted where the plaintiffs failed to establish a causal connection between the alleged act or omission of the defendants and the personal injuries claimed by plaintiffs. No. 2:08cv21 KS-MTP, 2009 WL 1515119, at *2 (S.D. Miss. Jun. 1, 2009). Plaintiffs, a mother and her minor son, contended that they experienced physical and psychological injuries related to the school's negligence in developing an Individualized Education Plan for the son and an incident at the school where a teacher burned

edges of a poster with a match, allegedly causing asthmatic and psychological trauma issues for the child. *Id.* at *1-2. The mother allegedly suffered an increased rate of seizures and was required to limit her job duties as a result of the defendants' conduct. *Id.* at *6. Upon consideration of the defendants' motion for summary judgment, the court called attention to the plaintiffs' failure to designate any medical experts who could offer testimony that the minor son's psychological problems were causally related to the match incident. *Id.* at *7. The son's medical records, though inadmissible due to a lack of certification, indicated that he received counseling prior to and after the match incident for various psychological and behavioral issues. *Id.* Among other legal deficiencies, the child's mother also failed to show any causal connection between her alleged emotional injuries and the match incident. *Id.* at *8. With no expert witnesses designated to "link any emotional or physical problem" allegedly suffered by the mother, "her negligence claim against the defendants must fail as well." *Id.*

Here, Martin failed to designate an expert witness that would testify as to the causation of her injuries. Rather, she relied on Dr. Gandy, one of her treating physicians, for testimony related to her knee conditions. As a result of Martin's failure to designate an expert witness to testify to medical causation, Martin cannot establish proximate cause, and thus, the trial court properly granted St. Dominic's motion for a directed verdict.

B. Dr. Gandy's Testimony Regarding Martin's Alleged Injuries was Not to a Reasonable Degree of Certainty and Did Not Establish Proximate Cause.

In an action for negligence, the plaintiff must establish the elements of breach and proximate cause with supporting evidence. *Todd v. First Baptist Church of West Point*, 993 So. 2d 827, 829 (Miss. 2008). If an expert's opinion is not based on a reasonable degree of certainty, or the expert's opinion is not probable, the jury may not consider the opinion in making a decision. *Hans v. Mem'l Hosp. at Gulfport*, No. 2008-CA-01617-COA, 2010 WL 918327, at *7 (Miss. Ct. App. Mar. 16, 2010) (quoting *Kidd v. McRae's Stores P'ship*, 951 So. 2d 622, 626

(Miss. Ct. App. 2007)). "It is the intent of the law 'that if a physician cannot form an opinion with *sufficient certainty* as to make a medical judgment, neither can a jury use that information to reach a decision." *Id.* (quoting *Kidd*, 951 So. 2d at 626).

Although Martin suggests that the trial court incorrectly applied the *Kidd* case and contends that it merely relates to the admissibility of an expert witness's statements, the Court of Appeals applied *Kidd* in the same context as the trial court. In *Hans*, the Court recognized the *Kidd* court's determination:

[W]hen an expert's opinion is not based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty, or the opinion is articulated in a way that does not make the opinion probable, the jury cannot use that information to make a decision. Failure to properly qualify an expert opinion typically occurs in testimony that is speculative, using phrases such as "probability," "possibility," or even "strong possibility." It is the intent of the law "that if a physician cannot form an opinion with sufficient certainty so as to make a medical judgment, neither can a jury use that information to reach a decision."

2010 WL 918327 at *7. Agreeing with the defendants, the Court found that the plaintiff's expert witness could not make "sweeping allegations" and sufficiently articulate the standard of care. *Id.* The expert opined that delays in service and treatment were negligent but failed to identify the parties responsible for the delays or provide any certainty as to causation. *Id.*

In Ryals v. Bertucci, the Court of Appeals considered whether the patient plaintiff's expert witness testified with medical certainty that the defendants' alleged medical malpractice proximately caused his loss of vision. 26 So. 3d 1090, 1093 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). The physician expert witness failed to affirmatively state whether the alleged injuries (macular scarring) related to the loss of vision were caused by any negligent acts of the defendants or whether the patient's outcome would have been different if the defendants had instead rendered medically appropriate treatment. Id. at 1097. As a result of the expert witness's failure to establish that the defendants' actions proximately caused the injuries complained of, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not err in directing a verdict in favor of the defendants. Id.

Similarly, in *Day v. Ocean Springs Hosp. Sys.*, the Court of Appeals considered the plaintiff's appeal after the trial court found that she had failed to prove negligence by the hospital. 923 So. 2d 246, 247 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). The plaintiff, mother of a patient at Ocean Springs Hospital, slipped and fell in water in the patient's room, injuring her wrist. *Id.* Though one of the plaintiff's treating physicians opined that the plaintiff's wrist condition was the result of her fall, the physician also stated that his opinion was solely based on the patient history provided by the plaintiff. *Id.* at 248. Consequently, the trial court held that the plaintiff failed to establish the negligence elements of breach and causation. *Id.* at 249. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision, noting that, aside from having no eyewitnesses to the fall, the plaintiff also failed to provide any medical evidence of proximate cause. *Id.* at 250. "No physician opined that [the plaintiff]'s injury only could have been caused as alleged by [the plaintiff]." *Id.* at 252.

In Harris v. Int'l Truck and Engine Corp., a products liability action, the plaintiff's experts provided different conclusions regarding the product's defects. 912 So. 2d 1101, 1106 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). The plaintiff argued that, in spite of his experts' inability to reach a conclusion as to the product's defect, the evidence was sufficient to go to a jury. Id. However, the Court of Appeals held that a plaintiff must base the theory of his case on more than speculation as juries are required to base their verdicts on more than "mere speculation or possibilities." Id. (citing Denman v. Denman, 134 So. 2d 457, 460-61 (Miss. 1961)). The plaintiff's evidence regarding the product's defective was speculative as was his theory as to the causation of his injuries. Id. As a result, the Court affirmed the grant of summary judgment to defendants. Id. at 1107.

Here, Martin contends that her treating physician, Dr. Gandy, established her fall at St. Dominic as the cause of her injuries. In his deposition testimony which was presented at trial,

8

Dr. David Gandy recalled the patient's history as retold to him by Martin. See Dr. Gandy Dep. 12:17-20, May 5, 2009. She complained of having had pain in her left knee for two years and recent pain in the right knee as well as the fall (about two months before her visit) with a direct blow to the right leg. See Dr. Gandy Dep. 10:17-22. He also testified that, after follow-up x-rays on Martin, his impression was "internal derangement of both knees with primary arthritis." Dr. Gandy Dep. 11:18-23. Dr. Gandy performed arthroscopic surgery on Martin to diagnose the source of her knee pain and treat the symptoms she was experiencing, or to deal with the arthritis and the meniscus tear. See Dr. Gandy Dep. 14:20-22, 15:22-25, 18:17-24, 26:6-9. After performing the surgery, Dr. Gandy concluded that Martin had a "medial and a lateral meniscus tear left knee and arthritis left knee." Dr. Gandy Dep. 20:24-25, 21:1-2.

Upon examination by St. Dominic's counsel, Dr. Gandy testified that he explained to Martin that meniscus tears "could come from wear and tear or from an acute injury" and that this was still his opinion as of May 5, 2009. Dr. Gandy Dep. 27:12-20. He further noted that Martin complained of pain on her last follow-up appointment with Dr. Gandy but that he expected her to experience some pain from the arthritis. Dr. Gandy Dep. 27:21-25, 28:1-6.

Dr. Gandy's testimony failed to establish that Martin's injuries were proximately caused by the fall. Dr. Gandy simply diagnosed her knee conditions as arthritis and meniscus tears and then testified that meniscus tears can be caused by "wear and tear or from an acute injury." See Dr. Gandy Dep. 27:12-20 (emphasis added). Dr. Gandy was never asked, nor did he testify as to whether Martin's injuries were caused by the fall.

Clearly, Dr. Gandy's testimony as Martin's treating physicians fails to establish with a reasonable degree of certainty that her knee conditions are related to her fall at St. Dominic. Even Martin's counsel admitted that "Dr. Gandy's testimony – of course, he's giving all options. There – in any diagnosis, there are a number of reasons why someone could develop this kind of

9

a situation." Trial Tr. 130:22-26. The trial court noted the uncertainties of the causation of

Martin's injuries:

[T]his Court made a specific inquiry of the plaintiff during the argument on the motion for directed verdict at the end of the plaintiff's case what specific medical

testimony there was of proximate causation by a medical doctor relating to this accident and this particular injury. And the Court never did receive, in its

opinion, a sufficient answer to that particular question.

Trial Tr. 240:4-13. Martin called two witnesses during the trial – herself and her treating

physician, Dr. Gandy. Martin, alone, testified that her fall at St. Dominic proximately caused her

injuries. As the Court of Appeals held in Day, the plaintiff's testimony is insufficient to establish

medical causation. Because Dr. Gandy cannot establish with sufficient certainty that Martin's

injuries were caused by her fall, the jury should not be allowed to consider the issue.

Accordingly, the trial court properly granted St. Dominic's motion for directed verdict.

III. CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the trial court's decision to grant St. Dominic-Jackson

Memorial Hospital's Motion for Directed Verdict. Based on the testimony presented during the

trial, Martin failed to show that St. Dominic was negligent and proximately caused the injuries

she alleged. For these reasons, the Court should affirm the trial court's decision to grant St.

Dominic's Motion for Directed Verdict.